STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

RECEIVED

09-03-2013

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

State of Wisconsin,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

Appeal No. 12AP2692-CR

V.

Kenosha County Case No. 08CF1035

Roddee W. Daniel,

Defendant-Appellant.

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Kenosha County The Honorable Wilbur W. Warren III Presiding

THE LAW OFFICE OF ANTHONY JUREK

Anthony J. Jurek (SBN 1074255) Attorney for Defendant-Appellant Roddee W. Daniel

222 S. Hamilton St., Ste. 22 Madison, WI 53703 Phone: (608) 843-8909

Issue Presented

Statement of the Case

Nature of the Case

This case concerns the preservation of Roddee Daniel's right to appeal his conviction and life plus fifteen year sentence without the possibility of extended supervision in a first degree intentional homicide and burglary case. Because Roddee has at times equivocated regarding whether to appeal and attempted to fire appellate counsel, and appellate counsel believes that Roddee lacks the competency to do so, appellate counsel seeks review of the circuit court's determination that Roddee is competent to pursue postconviction relief. While Roddee has apparently claimed he is competent (R. 149; A-App. 32), appellate counsel nonetheless brings this appeal under SCR 20.1.14. SCR 20.1.14 permits a lawyer who reasonably believes that a client with diminished capacity cannot adequately act in his own interest to prevent substantial harm to take reasonably necessary protective action to protect the client, including seeking the appointment of a guardian.

Appellate counsel seeks the appointment of a guardian to make those decisions allocated to Roddee by law. While undersigned counsel may be authorized to take protective action under SCR 20.1.14 until a court finds the Defendant incompetent and appoints a guardian (or until all remedies to that end are exhausted), it is not as clear that a lawyer may proceed with a full appeal on the merits of the case when his client frequently oscillates between wanting counsel to appeal and wanting to fire counsel. In this case, counsel's ethical obligation conflicts with the circuit court's determination.

¹ SCR 20:1.14 reads:

Client with diminished capacity

⁽a) When a client's capacity to make adequately considered decisions in connection with a representation is diminished, whether because of minority, mental impairment or for some other reason, the lawyer shall, as far as reasonably possible, maintain a normal client-lawyer relationship with the client.

⁽b) When the lawyer reasonably believes that the client has diminished capacity, is at risk of substantial physical, financial or other harm unless action is taken and cannot adequately act in the client's own interest, the lawyer may take reasonably necessary protective action, including consulting with individuals or entities that have the ability to take action to protect the client and, in appropriate cases, seeking the appointment of a guardian ad litem, conservator or guardian.

⁽c) Information relating to the representation of a client with diminished capacity is protected by SCR 20:1.6. When taking protective action pursuant to par. (b), the lawyer is impliedly authorized under SCR 20:1.6(a) to reveal information about the client, but only to the extent reasonably necessary to protect the client's interests.

Procedural Posture, Disposition in trial court and Facts relevant to appeal

Roddee was convicted of First Degree Intentional Homicide and Burglary for the murder of Capri Walker, which occurred when he was 15 years old. He was sentenced to life without parole, plus fifteen years. (R. 96-97.) The case is replete with potential issues of arguable merit. Contested motions for reverse waiver (R.5), to dismiss the criminal complaint for the unconstitutionality of the statute (R. 21), to sever defendants for trial (R.49), for change of venue (R. 50), to suppress statements (R. 53), to determine competency (R. 71), etc., were all decided against the Defendant. As with any case of this nature, other issues of arguable merit are exceedingly likely.

Appellate counsel has been unable to bring those issues because Roddee has inconsistently wanted to terminate representation. (R.108; A-App.2; R. 149; A-App. 26.) On the basis of Roddee's erratic behavior, in light of *State v. Debra A.E.*, 188 Wis.2d 111, 523 N.W.2d 727 (1994), appellate counsel moved the circuit court to rule on Roddee's competency to pursue postconviction relief. (R. 108; A-App. 1-7)

As a result of counsel's motion, the circuit court ordered an evaluation. (R. 110.) Roddee would not meet with the evaluator, so the evaluator submitted only a partial report, abstaining from any conclusion regarding competency. (R. 114, A-App. 8-11.) The circuit court ordered the Defendant to Mendota Mental Health Institute for an inpatient evaluation and scheduled a competency hearing. (R. 115.) The evaluator at Mendota concluded that Roddee was competent. (R.117, A-App. 12-16.) An independent forensic psychologist disagreed. (R. 155, Exh 5, A. App 117-121.)

At the hearing, the court endeavored to abide by the instruction in *State v. Debra A.E.* and conform the hearing as much as possible to Wis. Stat. § 971.14(4).² (R. 149; A-

² Wis. Stat. § 971.14(4)(b) reads: If the district attorney, the defendant and defense counsel waive their respective opportunities to present other evidence on the issue, the court shall promptly determine the defendant's competency and, if at issue, competency to refuse medication or treatment for the defendant's mental condition on the basis of the report filed under sub. (3) or (5). In the absence of these waivers, the court shall hold an evidentiary hearing on the issue. Upon a showing by the proponent of good cause under s. 807.13 (2) (c), testimony may be received into the record of the hearing by telephone or live audiovisual means. At the commencement of the hearing, the judge shall ask the defendant whether he or she claims to be competent or incompetent. If the defendant stands mute or claims to be incompetent, the defendant shall be found incompetent unless the state proves by the greater weight of the credible evidence that the defendant is competent. If the defendant claims to be competent, the defendant shall be found competent unless the state proves by evidence that is clear and convincing that the defendant is found incompetent and if the state proves by evidence that is clear and convincing that the defendant is not competent to refuse medication or treatment, under the standard specified in sub. (3) (dm), the court shall make a determination without a jury and issue an order that the defendant is not competent to refuse medication or treatment for the defendant's mental condition and that

App. 30-40.) The statute requires the court at the commencement of the hearing to inquire of the defendant whether he is competent. Wis. Stat. § 971.14(4). The court inquired personally of the Defendant whether he was competent and the Defendant responded "Yeah." (R. 149, A-App. 32.) Appellate counsel urged the court to conduct an openended colloquy, and while the court persisted in asking closed questions, the court permitted counsel to question the Defendant. (R. 149, A-App. 33-36.)

MR. JUREK: Roddee, can you explain for the Court what it means to appeal a conviction?

MR. DANIEL: No.

MR. JUREK: Well, what happens if you decide to appeal?

MR. DANIEL: I don't want to talk.

MR. JUREK: I understand you might not want to talk. I think it's important for this Court to know that if you don't want to appeal or if you want to fire me that you're able to do that. So what happens if you don't appeal?

MR. DANIEL: I can get charged with a crime.

MR. JUREK: You'll get charged with a crime?

MR. DANIEL: Uh-huh.

MR. JUREK: And what happens then?

MR. DANIEL: I don't want to talk.

MR. JUREK: I know you don't want to talk. We're almost done. What happens if you get charged with a crime?

MR. DANIEL: I don't want to talk.

(R. 149, A-App. 35-36.)³ The court then expressed the belief that under Wis. Stat. § 914.17, it needed to make an initial determination of competency. (R. 149; A-App. 36.) Undersigned counsel argued against that, advising the court that no initial determination was required, and that the court ought to just proceed with the hearing. (R. 149; A-App. 36-37.) The State, on the other hand, advised the court that the State did not intend to

whoever administers the medication or treatment to the defendant shall observe appropriate medical standards.

³ This interaction mirrored the interaction between Roddee and undersigned counsel before the hearing, as reported by Social Worker Julie Stockwell. (R. 149; A-App. 132-133.)

contest Roddee's competency and argued for a "directed verdict" finding the Defendant competent. (R. 149; A-App. 37-38.)

The court made a preliminary determination that Roddee was competent based on Roddee's "declaration," and noted that the State did not intend to present evidence to the contrary. (R. 149; A-App. 38-40.) The court then advised counsel "So now if you're not waiving your right to present evidence as to incompetency, then I think you probably have the burden to do that." (R. 149; A-App. 40.) Counsel accepted that burden, and the court advised that the burden was "preponderance of the evidence." (R. 149; A-App. 40.)

Testimony was received by Dr. Jose Alba, Roddee's treating psychiatrist at the Wisconsin Resource Center; Dr. Mark Phelps, who in the context of his forensic fellowship at Mendota wrote the report opining that Roddee was competent; Dr. Deborah Collins, from the Wisconsin Forensic Unit, who had initially examined Roddee for competency to stand trial; Ms. Julie Stockwell, L.C.S.W., a licensed clinical social worker from the Wisconsin Resource Center, who is Roddee's case manager; and Dr. Frank Cummings, a forensic psychologist who independently assessed Roddee for competency. Marked as exhibits were a note by Dr. Alba from Roddee's treatment record, Dr. Phelps' report, Roddee's records from Rogers Memorial, and the report of Dr. Cummings. Their testimony and the exhibits are discussed in detail in the Argument section below.

The hearing ran past the courthouse closing time, and so the judge ordered closing arguments in writing. The judge's ruling that Roddee was competent occurred by telephone hearing, which Roddee would not participate in. (R. 150; A-App. 214-228.) A Ruling that Roddee is competent to pursue postconviction relief was signed on July 31, 2012. (R. 130; A-App. 229.)

Argument

Competency is a contextualized concept; the meaning of competency in the context of legal proceedings changes according to the purpose for which the competency determination is made. *Debra A.E.* at 124-126. Whether a person is competent depends on the mental capacity that the task at issue requires. *Id.* To be competent to pursue postconviction relief, an individual needs to decide whether to appeal, what the objectives of an appeal will be, and assist counsel in developing a factual foundation for appeal.

⁴ The Appendix to this Brief, printed separately, contains the 2010 report of Dr. Collins regarding Roddee's competency to stand trial under the heading of Exhibits offered at this Competency Hearing. Dr. Collins' report was previously received by the circuit court before Roddee's trial as Record number 75 and was discussed but not marked as an exhibit at this hearing.

Debra A.E. at 124-126. Roddee cannot do any of these. His decisional competency is such that he cannot even decide whether to appeal, let alone what the objectives should be or assisting counsel in developing a factual basis for appeal. He is incapable of making long-term decisions, such as whether to take medication or whether to appeal his conviction. Appointment of a guardian is required to safeguard Roddee's right to appeal. If appointed, a guardian will decide whether to appeal and what the objectives are. By virtue of these proceedings, a record will be developed to afford Roddee additional appellate remedies should he ever achieve competency.

A reviewing court will only upset a circuit court's determination of competency if that determination is clearly erroneous. State v. Byrge, 2000 WI 101, 237 Wis.2d 197. A circuit court's finding is clearly erroneous when, although there is evidence to support it, a reviewing court on the entire evidence is left with the definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been committed. Anderson v. Bessemer City, 470 U.S. 564, 573 (1985). This court must view all the evidence relevant to the competency determination in order to determine whether the circuit court's ruling was clearly erroneous. A circuit court's credibility determinations are not insulated from review: Documents or objective evidence may contradict the witness' story, or the story itself may be so internally inconsistent or implausible on its face that a reasonable factfinder would not credit it. Id at 575. Where such factors are present, the court of appeals may well find clear error even in a finding purportedly based on a credibility determination. Id.

This is such a case. The evidence in this case is the testimony of mental health professionals, with the circuit court record and Roddee's mental health records serving as a background. The evidence that he is competent is not credible. The findings of the circuit court are clearly erroneous and do not reflect the evidence. The evidence that he is not competent is greater, more reasonable and more thorough. Viewing all the evidence, the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence is that Roddee is not competent to pursue postconviction relief.

The Evidence that Roddee is Competent is Not Credible

Dr. Phelps, who had almost completed a seven month fellowship at Mendota Mental Health Institute which would allow him to sit for forensic boards, produced a report opining that Roddee was competent and testified at the Competency Hearing to that effect. Dr. Phelps' ignorance regarding Roddee and regarding appeals renders his opinion so incredible on its face that a reasonable factfinder would not credit it. His written report, too, evinces a cut-and-paste mentality that utterly undermines his credibility. He opens his report by writing that Roddee was referred "for evaluation of

his competency to stand trial." (R. 117; A-App. 12.) While he goes on to write that it regards "his competency to participate in the current legal proceedings associated with his prior convictions..." Dr. Phelps reiterates under the "Competency" heading that "Mr. Daniel has not fully participated in any formal examination of his competency to stand trial" (R. 117; A-App. 14 (emphasis added)) and the standard expressed in his conclusion was that he was evaluating Roddee's competency "to understand the proceedings and assist in his own defense" (R. 117; A-App. 15.) Under "Sources of Information" he notes he reviewed a "letter to the court regarding competency to stand trial [sic]⁵ dated March 15, 2012 and authored by Dr. Rawski." (R. 117; A-App. 13(emphasis added).) In other words, Dr. Phelps was assessing Roddee for his competency to stand trial.

After witnessing proceedings the morning of the Competency Hearing which would have alerted him to the fact that he assessed Roddee with the wrong standard, he opened his testimony by offering that the report should read "assist in his own defense in the appeals process." (R. 149:59;A-App. 80.) Dr. Phelps was demonstrably ignorant of the process that he was supposed to be evaluating Roddee's capacity to participate in. He could not say what an appeal entails.

Q: Do you have any idea of what that process looks like, the appellate process?

A: As far as which parts?

Q: Well, the steps that have to take place in order to bring an appeal.

A: I do not have the expertise in the law that would be required for an understanding of all of the steps of the appeals process.

Q: Could you describe any of the steps that have to be taken in the appeals process?

A: My understanding is that he files an appeal. That is about the extent of my knowledge.

(A-App. 83.) If he does not know what the process is, he cannot possibly assess someone's competency to participate in that process. Appealing a conviction is a longer process than a trial leading to that conviction. There are different kinds of appeals, different courts to appeal to, different grounds upon which relief can be sought, some of which are complementary whereas others are mutually exclusive, different remedies, etc. If Dr. Phelps' understanding is limited to "he files an appeal" without regard to

⁵ Dr. Rawski's report was not aimed at "competency to stand trial," but opens with "...I attempted to evaluate Roddee W. Daniel regarding his competency to participate in the current legal proceedings associated with prior convictions..." (R. 114; A-App. 8) and closes with "I am unable to offer an opinion to a reasonable degree of medical certainty regarding Roddee Daniel's current competency to participate in the legal proceedings related to his recent convictions." (R. 114; A-App. 11.)

timeframes, courts, issues, remedies, etc., he couldn't possibly assess whether Roddee has the requisite competence to make a decision and then stick with it for the required time.

The verbiage of Dr. Phelps report is misleading. His report is laden with accounts about what Roddee "acknowledged" or "refused." (R. 117; A-App. 12-16.) Dr. Phelps admits in his report that there was only one meeting in which Roddee spoke with him, and that Roddee used only brief sentences, frequently that he "didn't want to talk about that." (R. 117; A-App. 15.) Dr. Phelps testified as well that Roddee's interactions were just brief sentences, monosyllabic answers and nods or shakes of his head. (R. 149:72; A-App. 93.)

Very little of Dr. Phelps' report was the result of his own work. (R. 149:59, 68-71, 79; A-App. 80, 89-92, 100.) Dr. Phelps viewed none of Roddee's then-current treatment records from WRC in arriving at his conclusion that Roddee was competent. (R. 149:70-71; A-App. 91-92). Dr. Phelps reviewed only a quarter of the records from Roger's Memorial. (Compare R. 149:96; A-App. 117 with R. 149:100; A-App. 121; R. 149 Exh. 4.) He never read Dr. Collins' report, but rather only Dr. Rawski's summary of it. (R. 149:71; A-App. 92.) Neither did he review the report of Dr. Lisowski⁶ that the circuit court had forwarded to Dr. Rawski. (Compare R.117; A-App. 12-13 ("Sources of Information" from Dr. Phelps' report) with R. 112 (Letter to Dr. Rawski from Judge Warren dated 2/29/12.) Perhaps because Dr. Phelps did so little of his own work, his report presents typos as fact. Dr. Phelps never spoke with counsel, either appellate or trial, as forensic practices would dictate. (Compare R.117; A-App. 12-13 ("Sources of Information" from Dr. Phelps' report) with R. 149:133-136 (Dr. Cummings' testimony referencing that interviewing counsel is accepted forensic practice and explaining why it is important).)

Dr. Phelps testified that the majority of his report was gleaned from the report of Dr. Rawski (R. 149:59, 68-71, 79; A-App. 80, 89-92, 100), who never met with Roddee (R. 114; A-App. 8-11), but instead took information from the report of Dr. Collins (R.

⁶ Dr. Lisowski's report was pursuant to a reverse-waiver motion by Roddee's original trial counsel and found, among other things, that Roddee had an IQ of approximately 71 and was repeating ninth grade. (R. 127; A. App. 205.)

Compare Dr. Phelps' assertion in his report that Roddee "was transferred to Racine County Jail on September 14, 2010" (R. 117; A-App. 13) and Dr. Rawski's typo that "Medical records from RCJ indicate that Mr. Daniel was transferred to RCJ from DCI on September 14, 2010" (R. 114; A-App. 9) and Dr. Phelp's testimony that "That was in Dr. Rawski's report as well" (R. 149:70; A-App. 91) with Dr. Alba and Ms. Stockwell's testimony that he was admitted to WRC on that date. (R. 149: 23, 119; A-App. 44, 140.)

114; A-App. 8-11), who didn't have the benefit of Roddee's records from Rogers Memorial in developing her opinion (R:149:89-90; A-App. 110-111), and who had only met with Roddee once for less than 30 minutes years before (R. 149:95; A-App. 116).

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