RECEIVED

11-10-2014

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2012AP2692-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

RODDEE W. DANIEL,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT II, REVERSING AN ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR KENOSHA COUNTY, WILBUR W. WARREN III, JUDGE

BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

TIFFANY M. WINTER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1065853

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 264-9487 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) wintertm@doj.state.wi.us

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

² The State does not wish to unnecessarily confuse this case by using Mr. Daniel's name when this appeal was not taken at his direction. From this point forward, the State will refer to the arguments presented as those of defense counsel. Mr. Daniel's name will be used only when the attribution to Mr. Daniel is appropriate.

³ The issues presented for review were not directly raised in the court of appeals. Generally issues not raised on appeal are deemed abandoned. *A.O. Smith Corp. v. Allstate Ins. Companies*, 222 Wis. 2d 475, 491-92, 588 N.W.2d 285 (Ct. App. 1998). However, since waiver is a rule of judicial administration, the State assumes that the court, by granting the petition for review, has determined that this case warrants relief from the waiver rule. *Id.* at 493.

⁴ 188 Wis. 2d 111, 523 N.W.2d 727 (1994).

concern whether a court should follow the procedures for establishing rebuttable presumptions found in subsection 971.14(4)(b).⁵

Subsection 971.14(4)(b) creates rebuttable presumptions of competency or incompetency based upon a defendant's personal assertion of competency or incompetency. In hearings on competency to stand trial, those presumptions protect an incompetent defendant from being tried and to protect a competent defendant from a deprivation of liberty absent an adjudication of guilt. The interests served by those presumptions are not applicable in the postconviction context and Wis. Stat. § 971.14(4)(b) unnecessarily complicates postconviction competency determinations. As such, this Court should take this opportunity to clarify the procedures to be followed at a postconviction competency hearing insofar as those procedures depart from Wis. Stat. § 971.14(4)(b).

Meaningful review of Daniel's competency to decide whether to forego postconviction relief should start with the presumption that Daniel is competent. Not only does the general proposition of law presume competence rather than incompetence, Daniel was previously determined to be competent to stand trial. That competency determination should continue in force and effect until it is proven that Daniel is no longer competent.

When postconviction competency is challenged and the circuit court orders a competency evaluation, the defendant, defense counsel, and the district attorney should be given the opportunity to present evidence if there is a hearing. If the district attorney and the defendant do not challenge the conclusion of the evaluator but defense counsel has evidence that conflicts with that conclusion, defense counsel may produce that evidence at the competency hearing for consideration. Placing the burden of production on defense counsel under these

⁵ The 2011-12 version and the 1993-94 version of subsection 971.14(4)(b) are substantively identical.

circumstances furthers the interest of the competency hearing, which is the protection of the defendant's fair opportunity to seek postconviction review as of right.

It is then the circuit court's task to weigh the evidence and determine if the greater weight of the credible evidence rebuts the presumption of competency. Once the competency determination is made, it should be afforded great deference as the circuit court is in the best position to determine competency.

I. A POSTCONVICTION COMPETENCY HEARING SHOULD NOT BE GUIDED BY THE STATUTORY FRAMEWORK OF WIS. STAT. § 971.14(4)(b) FOR CREATING AND REBUTTING A PRESUMPTION OF COMPETENCY OR INCOMPETENCY.

A criminal defendant enjoys a due process right not to be tried unless he or she is competent. Pate v. Robinson, 383 U.S. 375, 378 (1966). The test for competency under the Due Process Clause is whether the accused "has sufficient present ability to consult with his with a reasonable degree of understanding—and whether he has a rational as well as a factual understanding of the proceedings against him." Dusky v. United States, 362 U.S. 402, 402 (1960) (citation omitted). Wisconsin codified the Dusky standard for competency to stand trial in Wis. Stat. § 971.13(1), which provides that "[n]o person who lacks substantial mental capacity to understand the proceedings or assist in his or her own defense may be tried, convicted or sentenced for the commission of an offense so long as the incapacity endures."

Once there is reason to doubt a defendant's competency to stand trial, there must be an examination of the defendant by an examiner with "specialized

knowledge determined by the court to be appropriate to examine and report upon the condition of the defendant." Wis. Stat. §§ 971.14(1r)(b), 971.14(2)(a). That examiner must issue a report regarding the defendant's competency, Wis. Stat. § 971.14(3), and there must be a competency hearing (unless waived by the parties) once the examination is completed and the report is distributed. Wis. Stat. § 971.14(4)(b). If the circuit court determines that the defendant is competent after the hearing, criminal proceedings resume. Wis. Stat. § 971.14(4)(c). If the court determines that the defendant is incompetent and is not likely to become competent, the criminal proceedings are suspended, and commitment procedures may be initiated. Wis. Stat. §§ 971.14(4)(d), 971.14(5).

In the postconviction context, a defendant has the right to a "fair opportunity to pursue postconviction relief as of right." State v. Debra A.E., 188 Wis. 2d 111, 128 & n.12, 523 N.W.2d 727 (1994) (citing Article I, sec. 21, of the Wisconsin Constitution). Postconviction competency determinations serve to protect that right. Id. In doing so, a postconviction competency determination protects both parties. It protects the defendant's right to postconviction review and protects the State from an unwarranted expansion of that right. A postconviction competency determination that finds a defendant competent limits the defendant's ability to bring successive attacks. Similarly, a postconviction competency determination that finds a defendant incompetent puts the State on notice as to what types of successive attacks a defendant will have the right to raise once competency is regained. See Debra A.E., 188 Wis. 2d at 136 (once competency is regained the defendant has the right to bring a successive challenge if that challenge could not have been raised earlier because of incompetency).

In *Debra A.E.*, this Court concluded that Wis. Stat. §§ 971.13 and 971.14 govern competency determinations only through the sentencing stage of criminal proceedings. 188 Wis. 2d at n.14. Because "the meaning of competency in the context of legal proceedings changes according to

the purpose for which the competency determination is made," the court concluded that a "defendant is incompetent to pursue postconviction relief [of right] when he or she is unable to assist counsel or to make decisions committed by law to the defendant with a reasonable degree of rational understanding." Id. at 124-26. The court then concluded that like competency to stand trial, if any party has a good faith doubt about the defendant's competency to pursue postconviction relief, the issue of competency must be brought to the appropriate court's attention. Debra A.E., 188 Wis. 2d at 131. See also, State v. Johnson, 133 Wis. 2d 207, 219-21, N.W.2d 176 (1986). Once a question of postconviction competency is raised, if the court concludes that there is reason to doubt the defendant's competency, it has the discretion to determine the method for evaluating competency. Debra A.E., 188 Wis. 2d at 131-32.

That is the significant procedural difference between determinations of competency to stand trial and postconviction competency determinations. In determining competency to stand trial, the circuit court is bound by mandatory procedures. Wis. Stat. § 971.14. In *Debra A.E.*, this Court specifically concluded that postconviction competency procedures are left to the discretion of the court. *Debra A.E.*, 188 Wis. 2d at n.14 & 131-32.

The other significant difference between determination of competency to stand trial and a determination of competency to pursue postconviction relief is the effect of the determination. When a defendant is determined incompetent to stand trial, the defendant may be committed and proceedings are suspended until competency is regained. Wis. Stat. §§ 971.14(4)(d), 971.14(5). In *Debra A.E.*, this Court specifically concluded that when a court determines that a defendant is postconviction incompetent to pursue postconviction proceedings are not suspended and there is no attempt to restore competency because "meaningful postconviction relief can be provided even though a defendant is incompetent." *Debra A.E.*, 188 Wis. 2d at 130.

This case specifically calls into question whether all of the procedures relating to a hearing on competency to stand trial, as defined in Wis. Stat. § 971.14(4)(b), are relevant and helpful to a postconviction competency hearing. Defense counsel complains that the court did not follow procedures described in Wis. Stat. § 971.14(4)(b), which defense counsel asserts is contrary to the instructions in *Debra A.E.* that a circuit court be guided by Wis. Stat. § 971.14(4) to the extent feasible. (Pet'r's Br. at 10-12). *See also*, *Debra A.E.*, 188 Wis. 2d at 132. Specifically, defense counsel asserts that the circuit court improperly presumed Daniel to be competent based on Daniel's personal assertion of competence, and then improperly placed the burden on defense counsel to rebut that presumption (Pet'r's Br. at 10-11).

Section 971.14(4)(b) reads in relevant part:

At the commencement of the hearing, the judge shall ask the defendant whether he or she claims to be competent or incompetent. If the defendant stands mute or claims to be incompetent, the defendant shall be found incompetent unless the state proves by the greater weight of the credible evidence that the defendant is competent. If the defendant claims to be competent, the defendant shall be found competent unless the state proves by evidence that is clear and convincing that the defendant is incompetent.

The statute is clear that a defendant's personal assertion creates a presumption of competence or incompetence when the issue is competency to stand trial.⁶

⁶ In this case, while the circuit court characterized this presumption as a mandatory "initial determination," the effect is the same. The court correctly concluded that Wis. Stat. § 971.14(4)(b) guides the court to find Daniel competent based upon Daniel's personal assertion and unless proven otherwise.

This specific portion of Wis. Stat. § 971.14(4)(b) serves to protect two competing interest. When a criminal defendant personally asserts that he is not competent to stand trial, he is asserting his fundamental right not to be tried while incompetent. State v. Wanta, 224 Wis. 2d 679, 691, 592 N.W.2d 645 (Ct. App. 1999). In doing so, he is essentially agreeing to competency proceedings and conceding that his liberty may be deprived by an involuntary commitment. When the defendant personally asserts that he is competent to stand trial, he is asserting his fundamental right to liberty. Wanta, 224 Wis. 2d at 692 & n.5. In doing so, he is opposing competency proceedings and opposing any involuntary commitment that may result from those proceedings. Section 971.14(4)(b) was constructed to balance these competing interests:

The statute is narrowly tailored to achieve the State's interest in prosecuting competent criminal defendants and in restoring the competency of those who are incompetent as soon as practicable, while being sufficiently protective of a defendant's fundamental right to liberty, when he asserts his competency and an incompetent defendant's fundamental right not to be tried while incompetent.

Wanta, 224 Wis. 2d at 695.

Unlike a determination of competency to stand trial, a postconviction competency determination serves to protect only the "defendant's fair opportunity to pursue postconviction relief as of right." *Debra A.E.*, 188 Wis. 2d at 128 & n.12 (citing Article I, sec. 21, of the Wisconsin Constitution). There are no competing interests in a postconviction competency determination; the only interest is the protection of the *fair* opportunity to seek review as of right. The State has already prosecuted the defendant and the defendant's liberty has already been restrained due to an adjudication of guilt. The defendant also has no right to the restoration of competency before postconviction proceeding may continue. *Debra A.E.*, 188 Wis. 2d at 130.

Because the creation of a rebuttable presumption based on a defendant's personal assertion in Wis. Stat. § 971.14(4)(b) is narrowly tailored to serve specific interests not present in the postconviction context, courts should not look to that specific part of Wis. Stat. § 971.14(4)(b) when conducting postconviction competency hearings. This Court should take this opportunity to clarify that the instruction in *Debra A.E.* to follow Wis. Stat. § 971.14(4) to the extent feasible does not include the framework of Wis. Stat. § 971.14(4)(b) for establishing a presumption of competency incompetency based upon the defendant's personal assertion.

> II. WHEN Α **POSTCONVICTION COMPETENCY HEARING** HELD. A **DEFENDANT** PREVIOUSLY DETERMINED TO BE COMPETENT SHOULD BE **PRESUMED COMPETENT** UNLESS PROVEN OTHERWISE BY THE GREATER WEIGHT OF THE CREDIBLE EVIDENCE.

Because establishing a presumption of competency or incompetency based upon a defendant's personal assertion seeks to protect specific interest not relevant in the postconviction context, this Court should provide direction on how to conduct a postconviction competency hearing when a defendant was previously determined to be competent to stand trial. In doing so, this Court should conclude that a previous determination of competency to stand trial creates a presumption of competency to pursue postconviction relief, which can be rebutted by the greater weight of the credible evidence. As addressed more fully below, and in the context of the facts of this case, establishing a presumption of competency based upon a previous determination provides for a meaningful review of what, if any, actions are necessary to protect a defendant's fair opportunity to seek postconviction relief as of right.

A. A defendant previously determined to be competent to stand trial should be presumed competent to pursue postconviction relief.

Wisconsin is the only state that creates a presumption of competency or incompetency to stand trial based upon a defendant's personal assertion. As addressed above, while Wisconsin has found sound reason to establish a presumption of competence or incompetence to stand trial based upon a defendant's personal assertion, the specific interests protected by those presumptions are not applicable to postconviction competency determinations. Whether a defendant previously determined to be competent to stand trial should be presumed competent to pursue postconviction relief is a matter of first impression for this Court.

Defense counsel argues that a presumption of incompetence should be created upon an assertion by defense counsel that the defendant is incompetent (Pet'r's Br. at 16). Defense counsel further argues that when that occurs, the State should be required to prove the defendant competent (Pet'r's Br. at 16). The State, however, sees no reason to heighten defense counsel's assertion above all else. The notion that defense counsel knows best was expressly renounced in State v. Guck, 176 Wis. 2d 845, 500 N.W.2d 910 (1993), and State ex rel. Matalik v. Schubert, 57 Wis. 2d 315, 204 N.W.2d 13 (1973), and there are no due process concerns that would require a presumption of incompetence. See Medina v. California, 505 U.S. 437, 449 (1992) ("Once a State provides a defendant access to procedures for making a competency evaluation, [] we perceive no basis for holding that due process [] requires the State to assume the burden of vindicating the defendant's constitutional right by persuading the trier of fact that the defendant is competent to stand trial.").⁷

⁷ Some jurisdictions have adopted defense counsel's position for determinations of competency to stand trial. *See, e.g., Hodges v.*

The better approach is to presume that a defendant previously determined to be competent is still competent. See Haraden v. State, 32 A.3d 448, 452-53 (Me. 2011) (citing State v. Buzynski, 330 A.2d 422, 425-31 (Me. 1974); Dessaure v. Florida, 55 So.3d 478, 482-83 (Fla. 2010)). The State acknowledges that it is inappropriate to presume competency from the fact that the issue of competency was not raised in a prior proceeding. State v. Meeks, 2003 WI 104, ¶ 50, 263 Wis. 2d 794, 666 N.W.2d 859. But see First Nat. Bank of Appleton v. Nennig, 92 Wis. 2d 518, 529, 285 N.W.2d 614 (1979) (the law generally presumes competency rather than incompetency). However, when a previous determination

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